SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

LOCKHEED MARTIN AEROSPACE and	
ACE USA.	

CASE NO. :SC96638

CLAIM NO: 258-52-7598

Petitioners,

D/ACCIDENT: 04/01/96

v.

WILLIAM H. SCHWARZ,

-	t.		

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

James M. Hess, Esquire Florida Bar No. 0210943 George W. Boring, III, Esquire Florida Bar No. 0063370 Langston, Hess, Bolton, Znosko & Helm, P.A. 111 South Maitland Avenue Maitland, FL 32751 (407) 629-4323 **Attorneys for Petitioners**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	
ARGUMENT	
POINT I	3

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS WHICH LIMITED BENEFITS SUBJECT TO THE 100% AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE CAP TO PRIVATE OR PUBLIC DISABILITY BENEFITS AND WHICH AWARDED THE CLAIMANT PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR THE SAME PERIOD OF TIME THE CLAIMANT WAS RECEIVING HIS FULL SALARY IN THE FORM OF EMPLOYER PROVIDED AND EMPLOYER FUNDED SALARY CONTINUATION WITHOUT CONSIDERATION OF THE LIMITATION SET FORTH IN SECTION 440.20(14), FLORIDA STATUTES (1995).

POINT II
THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE JCC FINDING THAT EVEN IF THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER WAS ENTITLED TO OFFSET THE SALARY CONTINUANCE, THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER COULD NOT TAKE THE OFFSET FOR 26 WEEKS BUT RATHER WOULD BE ENTITLED TO AN OFFSET FOR THE ONE WEEK IN WHICH THE PAYMENT WAS MADE.
CONCLUSION
APPENDIX
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE NO.
<u>Barragan v. City of Miami,</u> 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989)
Brown v. S.S. Kresge Co. 305 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1974)
<u>Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and Country Club,</u> 731 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1999)
<u>Domutz v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co.</u> 339 So.2d 636 (Fla. 1976)
<u>Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v. Grice,</u> 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1997) 3,7,8,14,16,17,18,19,22, 23
Grice v. Escambia County Sheriff's Dept., 658 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)
<u>Statutes</u>
Section 440.15(9), Florida Statutes (1995)
Section 440.20(15), Florida Statutes (1985)
Section 440.20(14), Florida Statutes (1995) 9,11,16,23
Section 440.20(15), Florida Statutes (1991)
Section 440.21, Florida Statutes (1985)
IRC Rule 9

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.330(a)	4

CERTIFICATION OF FONT TYPE AND SIZE

This is to certify that the font size used in this brief is Times New Roman 14.



STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The Claimant, William H. Schwarz, is 61 years old, date of birth 7/18/38, and he sustained a compensable industrial accident occurring on April 1, 1996. The claimant's last date of employment with the employer, Lockheed Martin Information Systems, was March 31, 1998 (R-I-52). At that time the claimant participated in a voluntary layoff, under the terms of which he was entitled to receive 26 weeks of his salary at his normal rate of pay (R-I-67-68). He could take this 26 weeks of equivalent salary over a number of weeks or in a lump sum (R-I-53). If he took it in a lump sum the amount would be a lump sum of the entire 26 weeks of salary. If he elected to be paid weekly for ten weeks, he would be paid his salary for ten weeks. At that point if he decided to take the remainder in a lump sum, he would receive a lump sum based on the remaining 16 weeks. Regardless of how he elected to be paid, the amount the claimant would receive would be the same amount whether he elected to spread out the payments over 26 weeks or whether he took a lump sum payment (R-I-54).

The claimant elected to take this payment in one lump sum (R-I-57). There was still a medical benefit available to the claimant through the employer even though he took the lump sum (R-I-71). The reason the claimant elected to take the payment in one lump sum was because his daughter was getting married and he needed the upfront cash because of the expense of the wedding (R-I-68).

In addition to this lump sum payment, the claimant also started collecting his retirement, which amounted to \$5,414.87 per month (R-I-69). Moreover, he received payment of \$562.50 per month as a supplemental payment until he reaches age 62 (R-I-69). The 26 weeks of salary continuance, \$5,414.87 per month in retirement and \$562.50 per month in supplemental retirement payments were all benefits which were funded by the employer (R-I-69). Furthermore, the claimant received a special lump sum pension payment of \$111,894.14 on September 1, 1998, which was also funded by the employer (R-I-69-70).

On April 10, 1998, the JCC entered an Order approving a Joint Stipulation stating that "the employer/carrier has voluntarily accepted the claimant as permanently and totally disabled under Florida Statute Section 440.15." (R-I-41).

Subsequently, Lockheed Martin Information Systems, and its carrier, CIGNA Property & Casualty, filed a DWC-4 taking the position that although the claimant was accepted as permanently and totally disabled effective April 1, 1998, the employer had continued full salary in lieu of compensation until September 28, 1998. Thereafter, the employer/carrier would begin compensation payments for permanent total and supplemental benefits on September 29, 1998 (R-I-48). In June of 1998, the claimant filed a Motion to Enforce Stipulation claiming that "as of 6/5/98, the employer/carrier has not initiated payment of permanent total benefits or supplemental benefits," and "the claimant is not on salary continuance."

A hearing was held before Gail Adams, Judge of Compensation Claims on August 28, 1998 concerning the claimant's motion. The issue at the hearing was whether the claimant was entitled to collect workers' compensation permanent total disability benefits during the same time period in which he was receiving his full salary in the form of a 26-week lump sum payment of salary continuation. The claimant took the position that this was a retirement benefit and was not related to the claimant's disability. Alternatively, if the employer/carrier was entitled to a credit through

<u>Grice</u>, this credit should only apply to the one week in which the claimant received the lump sum of \$64,000 (R-I-5-6).

The employer/carrier argued that this was an employer provided and employer funded benefit. In Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v. Grice, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that an injured worker may not receive benefits from his employer and other collateral sources which, when totaled, exceed 100 percent of his average weekly wage. In this case, receiving PTD benefits from April 1 - September 28, the same 26 weeks for which he received a lump sum payment equal to his salary, would result in the claimant receiving in excess of his average weekly wage.

On November 18, 1998, the Judge of Compensation Claims entered an Order determining that: the employer/carrier should not offset the \$64,000 lump sum salary continuance as it is not a private or public disability benefit; the claimant is entitled to 20 percent penalties and interest for the employer's failure to comply with this Court's Order dated April 10, 1998 holding that Mr. Schwarz was entitled to PTD benefits beginning on April 1, 1998; and that the claimant is entitled to have his attorney's fees and costs paid by the employer/carrier (R-I-107).

On appeal, the Employer/Carrier argued that pursuant to a long line of cases from the Florida Supreme Court, the total benefits a claimant receives from all sources cannot exceed the claimant's average weekly wage. In other words, when an employee receives the equivalent of his full wages from whatever employer source that should be the limit of compensation to which he is entitled. Moreover, the Employer/Carrier argued that the JCC erred in limiting <u>Grice</u> to offsets only of payments made on account of disability.

In an opinion filed August 10, 1999, the First District Court of Appeal, citing Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and Country Club, 731 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), affirmed the JCC's Order. The Employer/Carrier filed a Motion for Rehearing pursuant to Florida

Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.330(a) on August 23, 1999. On September 15, 1999 the First District Court of Appeal entered an Order denying the Motion for Rehearing. The Employer/Carrier then filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of Supreme Court on September 27, 1999.

It was the position of the Employer/Carrier that the 1st DCA's decision expressly and directly conflicted with a decision of the Supreme Court of Florida and passed upon a question already certified to be of great public importance.

On October 11, 1999, the Employer/Carrier submitted its Brief in Support of Petitioner's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida. On February 21, 2000, the Supreme Court entered an Order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with oral argument pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.320.

This brief addresses whether the receipt of an employer provided and employer funded salary continuation, when combined with permanent total disability benefits, can exceed 100% of the average weekly wage.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The claimant in this case participated in a voluntary layoff with his employer, Lockheed Martin, on March 31, 1998. Under the terms of the layoff, he was entitled to receive 26 weeks of his salary at his normal rate of pay. He had the option to take this 26 weeks of salary over a number of weeks or in a lump sum. He elected to take this payment in one lump sum. Thus, although the employer/carrier voluntarily accepted the claimant as permanently and totally disabled effective April 1, 1998, he continued to receive his full salary for 26 weeks until September 28, 1998. Accordingly, permanent total disability benefits should begin on September 29, 1998.

The issue in this case is whether the claimant is entitled to receive permanent total disability benefits during the same period of time in which he received his full salary in

the form of a 26-week lump sum payment. The rule is that the total benefits a claimant receives from all sources cannot exceed the claimant's average weekly wage. In other words, when an employee receives the equivalent of his full wages from whatever employer source that should be the limit of compensation to which he is entitled. To hold otherwise would result in a situation where the claimant receives a windfall by receipt of a combination of benefits that exceed his average weekly wage.

Under established caselaw, <u>Brown</u>, <u>Domutz</u>, <u>Barragan</u> and <u>Grice</u>, the critical factor is whether the combination of benefits furnished by the employer together with workers' compensation benefits exceed the employee's average weekly wage. This Court has consistently held that, if employer provided benefits and workers' compensation benefits exceed the employee's average weekly wage, then the employer is entitled to offset the employee's workers' compensation benefits to the extent that the total of all of these benefits exceed the employee's average weekly wage.

The Judge of Compensation Claims awarded the claimant permanent total disability benefits during the same period of time he was receiving his full salary reasoning that the employer/carrier could not offset the lump sum salary continuance because it was not a private or public disability benefit. The 1st DCA affirmed citing Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and Country Club, 731 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). In Dixon, the 1st DCA concluded that social security retirement benefits were not collateral source benefits as contemplated in Grice because there is no authority for an offset in regard to social security retirement benefits provided in the statute, and the statute applies only to duplicative disability benefits. The decision of the 1st DCA in <u>Dixon</u> is erroneous for two reasons. First, this Court in Grice held that despite a lack of statutory authority for an offset of disability retirement benefits, the combination of all benefits received by a claimant may not exceed the employee's average weekly wage. Second, no cases have expressly held that non disability related pension benefits were excluded. Rather, in Domutz v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co., 339 So.2d 636 (Fla. 1976), the total of the claimant's benefits and workers' compensation benefits did not exceed the claimant's average weekly wage and thus, this court declined to address the issue of whether pension benefits paid by an employer could be credited against workers' compensation benefits. Accordingly, that issue remains open for review in this case.

Moreover, <u>Grice</u> itself makes no determination that only disability benefits can be used to offset indemnity benefits. Rather, in <u>Grice</u>, this Court intended that any employer provided benefits should be used in determining whether the claimant is receiving more than his average weekly wage in a combination of employer provided benefits and workers' compensation benefits. When this Court stated that an injured worker may not receive benefits from his employer and other collateral sources which exceed his average weekly wage, it is apparent from the case law cited by this Court that

the Court was speaking of benefits from all sources and from whatever employer source.

The <u>Dixon</u> Court distinguished social security retirement benefits from indemnity benefits owed as a result of one's disabling condition because social security retirement benefits are based on advanced years and one would be entitled to those regardless of whether he or she suffered an incapacitating injury. However, it is important to note that one does not receive social security disability benefits and social security retirement benefits at the same time because the social security system recognizes that social security disability replaces wages during working life and social security retirement replaces wages after working life. Likewise, permanent total disability benefits serve as a replacement for the wages earned by the claimant during the period of his disability and retirement or pension benefits serve as a replacement for the claimant's wages following his retirement. Thus, each of these benefits is employer funded. Accordingly, to allow the claimant to receive from two separate funds, each funded by the employer, replacements for his wages would result in the claimant being unjustly enriched.

Despite this Court's position that any employer provided benefits should be used in determining whether a claimant is receiving more than his average weekly wage, the JCC nevertheless found that offsets are only applicable to benefits payable on account of an injury such as Social Security Disability, short and long term disability and retirement disability. The 1st DCA agreed that Section 440.20(14) only applies to duplicative disability benefits. The 1st DCA erred and its Order should be reversed.

Finally, the 1st DCA affirmed the JCC's Order finding that even if the employer/carrier was entitled to offset the claimant's receipt of 26 weeks of salary, the employer/carrier could only take the offset for the one week in which the lump sum payment was made as opposed to the entire 26 weeks. Applying the offset in this manner is arbitrary because it depends on the whim of the claimant. In that regard, the claimant could either take the salary continuance in a lump sum or receive a check every other week. Moreover, he could have collected the payment biweekly for several weeks and then decided to receive a lump sum of the remaining weeks. Under the reasoning of the Court below, the employer's entitlement to an offset depends on when and if the claimant decides to receive the salary in a lump sum. The employer/carrier is either entitled to offset the receipt of 26 weeks of full salary or it is not. Whether the employer/carrier is entitled to offset the full amount of the salary continuation should not arbitrarily be determined by the whim of the claimant.

Beginning March 31, 1998, the claimant received an amount equal to his normal salary for 26 weeks. Thus, in essence he received full salary until September 28, 1998, the end of the 26 week period. The claimant should not be allowed to collect permanent total disability benefits until September 29, 1998 when his 26 weeks of salary

continuance would have been paid out had he elected to receive the salary continuance on a weekly basis. Because the 1st DCA affirmed the JCC's Order which did not allow the E/C to offset the claimant's 26 weeks of salary continuance, the 1st DCA's Order should be reversed.

ARGUMENT - POINT I

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS WHICH LIMITED BENEFITS SUBJECT TO THE 100% AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE CAP TO PRIVATE OR PUBLIC DISABILITY BENEFITS AND WHICH AWARDED THE CLAIMANT PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR THE SAME PERIOD OF TIME THE CLAIMANT WAS RECEIVING HIS FULL SALARY IN THE FORM OF EMPLOYER PROVIDED AND EMPLOYER FUNDED SALARY CONTINUATION WITHOUT CONSIDERATION OF THE LIMITATION SET FORTH IN SECTION 440.20(14), FLORIDA STATUTES (1995).

The issue in this case is whether the claimant is entitled to receive workers' compensation permanent total disability benefits during the same period of time in which he receives his full salary in the form of a 26-week lump sum payment of salary continuation. The longstanding rule as set forth by the statute and interpreted by this Court is that, although a claimant is entitled to workers' compensation benefits in addition to any benefits under an insurance plan to which he contributed, sick leave benefits, or pension benefits, regardless of whether the employee contributed to the funding of those benefits, the total benefits from all sources cannot exceed the claimant's average weekly wage.

Section 440.20(14), Florida Statutes (1995) provides in pertinent part:

When an employee is injured and the employer pays his full wages or any part thereof during the period of disability . . . and the case is

contested by the carrier or the carrier and employer and thereafter the carrier, either voluntarily or pursuant to an award, makes a payment of compensation . . ., the employer shall be entitled to reimbursement to the extent of the compensation paid . . .

This section of the statute is a codification of former I.R.C. Rule 9.

In <u>Brown v. S.S. Kresge Co.</u>, 305 So.2d 191, 192 (Fla. 1974), the claimant received workers' compensation benefits and sick leave benefits. This Court held that workers' compensation benefits when combined with sick leave benefits could not exceed the claimant's average weekly wage. In so holding, this Court interpreted the above-mentioned statutory language to mean that "when an injured employee receives the equivalent of his full wages **from whatever employer source** that should be the limit of compensation to which he is entitled." <u>Id.</u> at 194. (emphasis added)

In this case, the claimant's last date of employment with Lockheed Martin was March 31, 1998 (R-I-52). At that time, the claimant elected to participate in a voluntary layoff (R-I-67-68). As a result of this participation in the voluntary layoff, he was entitled to receive 26 weeks of salary to be paid at his normal rate of pay and at normal increments (R-I-68). He also had the right to accept this money in a lump sum at any time before the 26 weeks were paid out (R-I-53). This salary continuance was calculated based on the claimant's highest pay rate for 13 weeks before his layoff. In the claimant's case, this allowed him to collect the same as his full salary. The lump sum salary continuance was \$64,500.02, which represents 26 weeks of salary (R-I-77). In addition, beginning in March of 1998, the claimant began collecting his monthly pension benefit in the amount of \$5,414.87 as well as a supplemental monthly payment in the amount of \$562.50 per month (R-I-69). Thus, not only was the claimant collecting his full salary, he was also collecting his pension benefits from Lockheed Martin. After he left his employment, the claimant received the equivalent of his full wages from a Lockheed Martin provided and Lockheed Martin funded source for 26 weeks. This Court has held that "that should be the limit of compensation to which he is entitled."

The decisive factor in <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, was whether the combination of benefits from the employer exceeded the claimant's average weekly wage. In <u>Domutz v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co.</u>, 339 So.2d 636, 637 (Fla. 1976), the issue was whether the employer was entitled to credit the amount of pension benefits against workers' compensation benefits. In <u>Domutz</u>, when the compensation benefits were added to the pension benefits, this amount did not exceed the average weekly wage. This Court, citing <u>Brown</u>, recognized the rule that the combination of benefits from the employer may not

exceed the claimant's average weekly wage. <u>Id.</u> Subsequent Florida Supreme Court decisions have re-affirmed this position.

For instance, in <u>Barragan v. City of Miami</u>, 545 So.2d 252, 253 (Fla. 1989), the claimant was a Miami police officer who suffered permanent work-related injuries. He was granted workers' compensation benefits and disability pension benefits. The City, pursuant to a city ordinance, reduced the disability pension benefits by the amount of workers' compensation benefits. <u>Id.</u> The Supreme Court held that under the statute, an employer is prohibited from deducting workers' compensation benefits from an employee's pension benefits. <u>Id.</u> at 254-255. However, noting the well-settled rule that the total benefits from all sources cannot exceed the claimant's average weekly wage, the Supreme Court held that the employer may not offset workers' compensation payments against an employee's pension benefits **except to the extent that the total of the two exceeds the employee's average monthly wage**. <u>Id.</u> at 255. (emphasis added).

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