(407) 830-9191	
Florida Bar No: 1	57067
Co-Counsel for Resp	ondent
COURT	
FLORIDA	
, FLORIDA	
CASE NO:	SC96-638
LOWER TRIBUNAL NO:	98-04684
CLAIM NO:	258-52-7598
D/ACCIDENT:	04/01/96
	Florida Bar No: 1 Co-Counsel for Resp COURT FLORIDA , FLORIDA CASE NO: LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: CLAIM NO:

/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

The first DCA, on the authority of <u>Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and</u> <u>Country Club</u> 731 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), properly affirmed the JCC's conclusion that the E/C could not take an offset against claimants severance benefits because claimant was entitled to the severance benefits independent of any injury upon retirement. Since the severance pay was unrelated to any injury or disability of claimant, it is not a collateral source subject to the 100% AWW cap discussed in <u>Escambia County Sheriff's Department v. Grice</u>, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla.1997). It is respectfully submitted that this Honorable Courts decision in <u>Grice</u>, Supra, and any offset which may

be permissible pursuant to <u>F.S</u>. 440.20(14)(1995) applies only to duplicative disability benefits, but not to retirement benefits or severance pay benefits, or any other benefit unrelated to a disability or injury.

II

Although there is no specific case on the point involving the "<u>Grice Cap</u>", claimant respectfully submits that when an offset is taken by an E/C it can only be for the specific time period that the claimant actually received the money subject to the offset, irregardless of how much money it is. For example, in <u>National Distillers v. Guthrie</u> 473 So.2d 806 (Fla.1st DCA 1985), the First District Court of Appeal held that the E/C could offset a real estate commission against wage loss benefits only for the month in which the real estate commission was paid, even though the commission may have been the result of a couple of months of work.

The same principle would apply in the case at bar. If an offset is allowed against the severance pay received by claimant, it would only be for the actual week that the claimant received the severance pay.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER OR NOT THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS, WHICH LIMITED BENEFITS SUBJECT TO THE 100 PERCENT AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE

CAP TO PRIVATE OR PUBLIC DISABILITY BENEFITS AND WHICH AWARDED THE CLAIMANT PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR THE SAME PERIOD OF TIME THAT CLAIMANT RECEIVED A SEVERANCE PAY FROM THE EMPLOYER THAT WAS UNRELATED TO CLAIMANT'S INJURY.

The JCC, in her Order of November 18, 1998 specifically found as

follows:

"The E/C cannot simply take an offset without statutory or case law authority for doing so. Offset's have only been allowed for benefits payable on account of an injury, such as social security disability, short and long term disability, and retirement disability. The employers offset in this case is illegal because there is no statutory or case law authority allowing an offset for retirement benefits which vested before the date of the accident. Mr. Schwarz severance benefits vested prior to the date of the injury; were due on owing upon retirement; and were not payable on account of any injury. Consequently, the E/C has no authority for taking the offset."

Furthermore, on August 10, 1999 the First District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion in the above referenced matter affirming per curium the JCC's Order based on <u>Dixon v. Pasadena</u> <u>Yacht and Country Club</u> 731 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(A-2).

Claimant respectfully submits that the finding by the JCC, and subsequent affirmance by the First District Court of Appeal, is proper under the law and should be affirmed.

In <u>Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and Country Club</u>, Supra, the First District Court of Appeal was faced with the following question:

"...Whether social security retirement benefits are a "collateral source" subject to the 100 percent AWW cap discussed in <u>Grice...", Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and Country</u> <u>Club</u>, Supra at 142.

As it relates to the aforesaid issue, the First District Court

Appeal concluded:

"...That social security retirement benefits <u>are not</u> "collateral source" benefits as contemplated in <u>Grice</u>, and that application of the 100 percent AWW cap and offset was error." <u>Dixon v. Pasadena Yacht and Country Club</u>, Supra at 142.

In so concluding, in <u>Dixon</u>, Supra, the First District Court of Appeal indicated that there was no authority for an offset in regard to social security retirement benefits. The First District Court of Appeal noted that <u>F.S</u>. 440.15(3)(b)7(1991) allowed an offset against <u>wage loss</u> benefits paid an injured worker who also received social security retirement benefits, but the First DCA held that statute was inapplicable because claimant was being paid PTD and PTD supplemental benefits, not wage loss.

Furthermore, the First DCA found that <u>F.S</u>. 440.15(9)(a)(1991) provided no authority for the offset because the aforesaid statute dealt only with social security disability benefits, not retirement benefits.

In <u>Dixon</u>, Supra, the First District Court of Appeal further rejected the E/C's argument that they were allowed to take an offset on claimants social security retirement benefits based on the provisions of <u>F.S</u>. 440.20(15)(1991) (currently renumbered to <u>F.S</u>. 440.20(14)(1995)). The First DCA held that the aforesaid statute applies only to duplicative disability benefits and would not apply to retirement benefits. In the case at bar, the severance pay benefits that claimant is receiving is akin to social security retirement benefits. Claimant retired on March 31, 1998 (V1-52). Upon claimants retirement claimant became entitled to receive all of his retirement benefits including his severance pay (V1-59). Claimant elected to take his severance pay in a lump sum (V1-57, 76).

Barbara Ferrini, Human Relations Director with the employer, testified that the 26 week payment that claimant received was severance pay (V1-53), and a benefit that claimant was entitled to because he was retiring (V1-59). The severance pay that claimant received upon retirement actually vested in 1992 (severance pay based on 1 week severance pay per year of service up to a total of 26 weeks) (V1-65), and claimant would be entitled to receipt of this severance pay upon retirement whether claimant was injured or not (V1-59).

Concerning claimants severance pay the JCC stated

"Claimant, William Schwarz began working for the employer in June 1966. In June 1992, long before the date of accident, Mr. Schwarz became vested with certain retirement benefits,

including severance pay equal to 26 weeks of wages, payable over 26 weeks or in a lump sum...Importantly, Mr. Schwarz was entitled to these retirement benefits regardless of the reason for his retirement." (V1-108).

Therefore, just as the E/C could not take an offset against claimants social security retirement benefits in <u>Dixon v. Pasadena</u> <u>Yacht and Country Club</u>, Supra, the E/C in the case at bar cannot take an offset against claimants severance pay.

The E/C in their Initial Brief state that the issue in this case is whether the claimant is entitled to receive workers compensation permanent total disability benefits during the same period of time in which he received his "full salary in the form of a 26 week lump sum payment of salary continuation." (IB-11).

Claimant disagrees with the E/C's assertion that claimant was receiving "salary continuation". Claimant respectfully submits that although the severance pay was calculated at claimants regular salary times 26 weeks, it was still severance pay that claimant was entitled to upon retirement (V1-52, 53), and not "salary continuation".

The E/C in their statement of the facts and of the case state that the E/C took the position that the employer had "continued full salary in lieu of compensation" until September 28, 1998 (IB-2). Claimant would respectfully submit that payment to a claimant of a "salary in lieu of compensation" cannot and does not occur under the workers compensation law unless their is sufficient evidence to establish the employers intent or the employees reasonable belief of the employers intent to pay wages in lieu of disability benefits, <u>Hardee County Plumbing v. Heflin</u> 567 So.2d 995 (Fla.1st DCA 1990). Clearly in the case at bar, there was no intent of the employer to pay claimant salary "in lieu of compensation" until September 28, 1998, since claimant was entitled to the severance pay upon retirement irregardless of whether claimant had a disability or not. Claimant would also note incidentally that payment of benefits to an injured employee from a municipal pension fund also do not constitute workers compensation payments, <u>Ruzek v,</u> <u>City of Hollywood</u> 384 So.2d 155 (Fla.1st DCA 1980).

The E/C next argue that the total benefits from all sources cannot exceed the claimants average weekly wage (IB-11). Every case that has capped a claimant benefits at 1- percent of claimants AWW has dealt with benefits that an injured worker has received because of his injury, but nowhere has there been a case that has held that benefits unrelated to claimants injury or disability are included in the 100 percent AWW <u>Grice</u> cap.

The case of <u>Brown v. S.S. Kresqe Company Inc.</u> 305 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1974), a case relied upon by the E/C in their Initial Brief (IB-12) is distinguishable from the case at bar. In <u>Brown v. S.S.</u> <u>Kresqe Company Inc.</u>, Supra, the question was:

"... Whether sick leave benefits provided by an employer through group insurance coverage shall be credited on workmen compensation injury benefits, or are sick leave benefits a part of the fringe benefits of the injured employees employment contract..." Brown v. S.S. Kresge Company Inc., Supra at 194.

This Honorable Court in <u>Brown v. S.S. Kresqe Company Inc.</u>, Supra, concluded that the E/C could not take an offset based on claimants

sick leave benefits, unless the combination of workers compensation benefits and sick leave benefits provided by the employer exceed claimants AWW. The Florida Supreme Court based this ruling on former IRC rule 9 which, in effect was codified by <u>F.S.</u> 440.20(15)(1979) (currently <u>F.S.</u> 440.20(14)(1995), <u>Belle v. General</u> <u>Electric Company</u> 409 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) at 183 F.N.1.

The First DCA in <u>Dixon</u>, Supra, distinguished <u>Brown v. S.S. Kresqe</u> <u>Company Inc.</u>, Supra, from a social security retirement situation, because the claimant in <u>Brown</u>, Supra, was receiving sick leave pay as the result of claimants disabling condition, i.e. as a result of claimants workers compensation injury. However, in <u>Dixon</u>, Supra, and in the case at bar, the severance pay that the claimant is receiving are not contingent in any way upon the claimants disabling condition, and therefore would not be covered by <u>F.S</u>. 440.20(14)(1995) (the codification of IRC rule 9).

The claimant also takes issue with the E/C's contention that claimants severance pay is actually from an "employer source" (IB-12, 13). As previously noted, claimants severance pay is a retirement benefit. Vested retirement benefits are not payable by the employer. The employer has established a health and welfare benefit plan pursuant to the employee retirement income security act, Title 29 U.S.C Section 1001 et Seq. There are several cases noting that the employers health and welfare benefits package is an

ERISA qualified plan, see Booton v.Lockheed Medical Benefits Plan, 110 F.3d 1461 (9th CIR 1997), Evans v. Lockheed Special Accident Insurance Plan, 916 F.2d 1437 (9th CIR 1990); Wooton v. Lockheed Retirement Plan For Certain Salaried Employees, 859 F.2d 155 (9th CIR 1988). Under the plan, claimant became entitled to his retirement benefits two years before his disabling injury. The plan was simply the ERISA fiduciary holding and managing the funds for the benefit of claimant pending his retirement, see Title 29 U.S.C. Sections 1102 and 1104. Indeed, if claimant was forced to file a civil lawsuit in order to compel payment of his retirement benefits, including severance pay, he would have had to sue the plan, and not the employer. Under ERISA, an employer is not a proper party to a lawsuit to enforce the payment of benefits, Zelda v. Delta Airlines Inc. 423 So.2d 945 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), see also Barrett v. Thorofare Markets Inc. 452 F.Supp 880 (W.D. PA 1978); Boyer v. J.A. Majors Co. Employees Profit Sharing Plan 481 F. Supp 454 (N.D. GA 1979) (employer not a proper party defendant where company has an ERISA plan in place); Carter v. Montgomery Ward and <u>Company</u> 76 FRD 565 (E.D. TENN 1976).

Claimant also respectfully submit that the case of <u>Domutz v</u>. <u>Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company</u> 339 So.2d 636 (Fla. 1976), another case relied upon by E/C in their Initial Brief (IB-13), does not support the E/C's position. The decision in <u>Domutz</u>, Supra indicates that the claimant was receiving PTD and pension benefits, but does not state whether the pension benefits are "disability pension" or some sort of retirement pension. Similarly, the industrial relations commission order in <u>Southern Bell</u> <u>Telephone and Telegraph Company v. Domutz</u> IRC order 2-2823(July 24, 1975) likewise does not indicate what type of pension benefits claimant was receiving.

The case of <u>Barrigan v. City of Miami</u> 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989), another case relied upon by the E/C in their Initial Brief (IB-14) is again distinguishable from the case at bar.

The issue in <u>Barrigan</u>, Supra was as follows:

"Does the employers reduction of claimants pension benefits, pursuant to contractual provision for offset of workers compensation, permit the deputies application of section 440.21, Fla. Stap. to award compensation benefits to claimant "at his combined maximum monthly wage"?

The "pension benefits" referred to in <u>Barrigan v. City of</u> <u>Miami</u>, Supra, was a "disability pension".

This Honorable Court in <u>Barrigan</u>, Supra, held that Florida Statute 440.21 prohibits an employer from deducting workers compensation benefits from an employees pension benefit. This Honorable Court in <u>Barrigan</u>, Supra, concluded:

"The employer may not offset workers compensation payments against an employees pension benefits except to the extent that the total of the two exceeds the employees average monthly wage. We answer the certified question in the affirmative..."

Again, the First DCA in Dixon, Supra, distinguished Barrigan,

Supra, on the grounds that workers compensation and <u>disability</u> pension benefits were involved in <u>Barrigan</u>, Supra, where as retirement benefits were involved in <u>Dixon</u>. Similarly, in the case at bar, severance pay benefits to which claimant was entitled upon retirement are involved, not disability pension benefits.

Again, the case of <u>Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v. Grice</u>, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla.1997), another case relied upon by the E/C in their Initial Brief (IB-14, 15) is distinguishable from the case at bar because <u>Grice</u> also dealt with social security <u>disability</u> and state <u>disability</u> retirement benefits, not regular retirement benefits, nor severance pay.

As the First DCA stated in Dixon, Supra,

"...We see a critical distinction between indemnity benefits, owed as a result of ones disabling condition, and social security retirement benefits, which are based on advanced years and to which one would be entitled regardless of whether he or she suffered an incapacitating injury..." <u>Dixon</u>, Supra at 143.

Similarly in the case at bar, there is a critical distinction between indemnity benefits owed as a result of a disabling condition, and severance pay to which claimant is entitled whether or not he suffered and incapacitating injury.

The E/C next contend that if claimant is permitted to receive permanent total disability benefits for the same period of 26 weeks in which he received his full salary, claimant would receive a

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